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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEilIY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES'REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3,l AUGUST 2OI9

The trustees presenl their annual report together with the financial statements and auditor's report of the
charitable company for the period lst September 2018 to 31 August 2019. The annual report serves the
purposes of bolh a irustees' report, strategic and a directors' report under company law.

The trust operates a specialschoolacademy for pupils aged 11 to 19 primarily serving the borough of Halton,
Cheshire, though surrounding local authorities to commission individual pupil placements at the school. lt has a
pupil capacity of 92 and had a roll of 92 in 2018-2019-

Structure, govsrnance and managgment

a. Constitution

The academy trust is a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity. The charitable company's
memorandum and articles of association are the primary goveming documents of the academy trust. The
trustees of The Cavendish High Academy Trust Limited are also the directors of the charitable company for the
purposes of company law. The charitable company operates as The Cavendish High Academy, The trustees
are also referred to as Governors and collectively the Governing Body of the School,

Details of the Trustees who served during the year, and to the date these accounts are approved are included in
the Reference and administrative details on page 1.

b. Membere'liability

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the charitable company in the
event of it being wound up while they are a member, or within one year after they cease to be a member, such
amount as may be required, not exceeding €10, for the debts and liabilities contracted before they ceased to be
a member.

c. Trustees' lndemnities

Qualifying third party indemnity provision has been obtained by the academy for the benefit of the governors.
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTTNUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I AUGUST 2O{9

Structure, govornance and management (continued)

d. Mathod of recruitment and appointment or election of Trustees

Should there be a resignation; The Governing Body Standing Orders will be used to recruit new trustees,

The structure of the Governing Body for 2018-201 9 is:. Principal Head Teacher (accounting officer)c /l x Staff representative membero $xCommunity/businessmembers

All fuiure Governors shall be appointed or elected, as the case may be, under the Articles of Association and
Funding Agreement. lnternal recruitment for any staff and parent appointment will be undertaken using
democratic voting procedures and election oversoen by Clerk to the Governing Body.

Community governors will be sought via registration of interest through collaborative partners, local charitable
organisations (in particular Special Needs) and governor support agencies.

Governors terms of office shall be 4 years. This time limit does not apply to the Principal Head Teacher who is
ex-offcio. Subject to remaining eligible any governor may be re-appointed or re-elected.

The current structure of the governing body:

ln general, the Academy Trust will have the following Governors:-

. Not less than three governors (not subject to a maximum). The members' may appoint up to 7 governors, subject to Article 50.. Staff governors must not exceed more than 1/3rd of the total number of governorsr I staff Governor will only hold office for so long as they continue to be employed at the Academy.

e. Policies adopted forthe lnductlon and tralnlng of Trustees

The training and induction provided for new Govemors will depend upon their existing experience and
consequently induction tends to be tailored specifically to the individual. lt would always include a tour of the
Academy, and a chanca to meet staff and students. As per legislation that came into force 18th March 2016 all
Governors are subject to a mandatory Enhanced DBS check. All Govemors are provided with online access to
documents and information that they will need to undertake their role as a Governor. There is also a package of
local training and support available for governors from the LocalAuthority (Hallon). Further information, advice
and general support is provided by the Academy through membership of the highly valued 'Key for School
Governors'and the NGA,
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I AUGUST 2019

Structure, governance and management (continued)

f. Oryanisational structure

Subject to the mandates imposed by the Companies Act 2006, the articles of Association ensure that the
activities of the Academy Trust are managed by the Governors who exercise all the powers of the Academy trust
with very few exceptions reserved to the Members.

The Full Governing Body meets once per term. The Business Continuity & Premises and Teaching & Learning
Sub-committee meetings also take place once per term. The Cuniculum Review committee meets annually.

The following decisions are reserved to lhe Full Governing Body meetings: considerations of proposals for
changes in stales to the academy and its committee structure; lo appoinVremove the ChairA/ice Chair; to
appoint the Principal Head Teacher; to review the SEF, to approve the annual School lmprovement Plan and to
approve the budget.

Trustees make joint decisions with the SLT on appointment of teachers and the senior leadership team. The SLT
may appoint teaching assistants and support staff.

The Governors devolve responsibility for the day to day operational control and management of the Academy to
the Principal Head Teacher and Senior Leadership Team including the Depu$ Head Teachers and Chief
Finance Officer. The SLT also makes recommendations to the Governing body regarding the strategic direction
of the school.

The Academy's financial control group comprises the Principal Head Teacher, Chief Finance Officer and the
Chair of Govemors who collectively assess the schools financial position and formulates the recommendations
to the governors on Staffing, Finance, Health and Safety and premises committees as part of the budget setting,
monitoring and planning process.

Accounting Officer: Mrs E Haver Principal Head Teacher
Chief Finance Officer: Ms S Rogers
Responsible Officer: Mr Tom Doyle
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THE CAVENOISH HIGH ACADEiIIY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTTNUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I AUGUST 2019

Structure, governance and management (continued)
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADETIY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2019

Structure, govgrnance and management (continued)

g. Trade union facillty time

Relevant union oflicials

Number of employees who were relevant union officials during the year
Full-time equivalent employee number

Peruentage of time spent on facitity time

Percentage of time

0o/o
1o/o-5oo/o
51o/o-99o/o
100o/o

Percentage of pay billspent on facility time

Total cost of facility time
Totalpay bill
Percentage of total pay bill spent on facility time

Numberof
employees

€000

0.15

Pald trade unlon actlvitleg

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facili$ time
hours

o/o

h. Related partiee and olher connected charities and organisations

The Friends of Cavendish (Charitable Number: 510906) - This is a charity set up to advance the education of
the pupils of the school by providing and assisting in the provision of facilities and equipment for education and
enrichment at the school (not formally provided by the Local Education Authori$).

The Academy is an outward facing school as is reflected in its membership of, and contributions to, a range of
networks, consortia and alliances both locally and regionally including; Merseyside SLD Schools (MSLD),
Cheshire Special Schools Consortium (CSSC) Halton Secondary Heads (HASH), Halton Special Schools,
Merseyside Special Teaching SchoolAlliance (MSTSA) Palmerston Teaching SchoolAlliance, and the Adelaide
Multi Academy Trust. We have played a key role in the development and delivery of ITT & NQT training through
our Merseyside connections. We also work with a range of extemal organisations to help train and develop
educators of the future, including Chester, Liverpool Hope, Bangor & Manchester Metropolitan universities, to
support ITT students on PGCE, BEd & BA with QTS courses.
Obfectlves and actlvltles
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3' AUGUST 2O'9

Obiectives and activitles (continued)

The Trust operates as The Cavendish High Academy: a special school academy, for pupils aged 11 to 19 years,
with 93 students on roll 2018-2A19. Cavendish High chose to become an Academy in February 2014. The
majorig of our students have severe learning difficulties and secondary SEND including Autism (57olo), SLCN
(18o/o), SEMH (6010), Hl (3%), PD (3olo), Vl (3%), MLD (2%), PMLD (2%)and other including ADHD, FAS, PDA.
89 studenls currently on roll September 2019 (designated for 90). 90o/o (80/89) students from Halton and 10%
(9/89) from neighbouring local authorities. 100% of students have EHCP. 65% (58/89) male and 35% (31/89)
female. 8olo LAC. 54olo FSM. Approximately two thirds of our students follow a subjec{ specific curriculum and a
third follow a non-subject specific curriculum. ln March 2017 Ofsted noted "Parenls clamour to secure places at
The Cavendish High Academy for their children".

This remains the case in September 2019 with a rising number of requests from mainstream primary schools for
places for their pupils for year 7 and a rising roll predicted over the next 3 years.

100% students who attended Cavendish 2018-2019 have an EHCP.

Objects and aims

The Cavendish High Academy is a converter special school academy providing specialist education for students
aged 11-19 years. lt is a well-established inclusive and supportive learning community where pupils learn
together in a safe and caring environment, where their very differing educational needs are met. The curricula
are flexible and responsive; our teaching community is committed to revising and reinventing them to ensure
they can effectively meet the increasingly complex needs of our pupils. We are an outward facing school.
Creativity is core to outstanding teaching and learning and we strive to break down the barriers between subjecls
to ensure deep and meaningful learning can take place for our students.

The trust's object is to provide our pupils with an exceptional education through a range of curricula lhat are
differentiated to meet their very specific educational needs.

Objectives, Strategies and Activities

The academy undertook self-evaluation activities to identify overarching priorities for the School Development
Plan:

Quality of Education: Sustain level of quality of provision through continued rigorous quality assurance,
support and challenge.
Leadership & Management Ensure leadership and management remains outstanding
Personal Development: Ensure all staff have training to consistently support students to be healthy and
happy both physically and mental.
Behaviour & attitudes: Work with Halton EWO to improve attendance of small cohort of p-16 students.

Our plans for expansion of our physical premises to meet rising demand for places have been hit by significant
funding cuts. We are wo*ing with the local authority to identify possible premises to develop a Cavendish model.
We are focused on ensuring the academy remains a going concern.

We are an outward facing school. We are very aware of, and uoe, research and development to move our
school fonrard. We are working together with colleagues and our community on a local, regional and national
level.
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTTNUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I AUGUST 2019

Objectives and activities (continued)

Quality of Education

1. Sustain level of quality of provision through continued rigorous quality assurance, support and challenge:
underlake self and peer review through the SSAT Framework for Exceptional Education, AET framework and
Networking & Economically viable curricula.
1.1 Re-evaluate the use of data: SLT & Govemors continue to review processes for both collecting data and for
making use of the data once gathered. School and trust leaders have a dug to evaluate the time costs for each
stage of collecting and analysing data. Decide on whom the burden of collection and analysis should fall and
ensure they have the capacity to complete this, be explicit about what time spent on data collection and
investment is displacing, and have a means of deciding when a data collection process is no longer necessary.
1.2 Review curricula statemenls & policies to ensure consistency of clarity of intent, implementation and impact.
1.3 Further develop lhe use of Arbor to ensure consistency of language and communication with parents/carers.
1.4 Continue to ensure that allgroups of pupils make progress against their baseline, regardless of individual
high level of need.

Leadership & Management

2. Ensure leadership and management remains outstanding
2.1 Those responsible for governance should ensure that they have the skills, experience and expertise to
provide the highly effective, strategic leadership required to maintain the school's outstanding provision.
2.2 Ensure that govemance is effective in holding the school to account
2.3 Review staffing levels and structure (including SLT) to ensure both strategic and operational capacig is
appropriate, affordable and maintains an effective level of provision & staff wellteing.
2.4 lmprove strategic and operational capacity by continuing with distributed leadership strategy to develop
succession plan and effectiveness of middle leaders and effectively embed them in both strategic and
operational practice.
2.5 Continue to improve efficiency across the academy - Continue working towards economic efiiciencies with
the intent of delivering a balanced budget for 2Q20-2021
2.6 Continue increasing the level of consistency regarding teachers working harmoniously to oupport and
challenge one another, including the teaching assistants.
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2019

Objectives and activities (continued)

Perconal Development

3. Ensure all staff have training to consistently support students to be healthy and happy both physically and
mentally.
3.1 Ensure safeguarding capaclty and practice remains outstanding
3.2 Further develop staff capacity to support students mental health and well-being

Behaviour & attitudes

4. lmprove sfudent attendance - Work with Halton EWO to improve student attendance
4.1 Review positive behaviour support training
4.2 Further grow and develop the in-house behaviour supporl team
4.3 Review behavioural impact of students on others attendance
4.4 Review economic viability of student placements in Pathways

Please see section: Slrategic Report - Achievements and Performance for achievement of our stated aims and
objects on page 15.

Public Benefit

The Academy has complied with its duty to have due regard to the guidance on public benefit, published by the
Charity Commission, in exercising its powers or duties. FRS 102: 'an entity whose primary objective is to provide
goods or services for the general public, communig or social benefit and where any equity is provided with a
view to supporting the entity's primary objec'tives rather than with a view to providing a financial return to equity
providers, shareholders or members'.

Going Concern

After making appropriate enquiries, the board of trustees has a reasonable expectation that the academy trust
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 2019-2020 and 2020-2021 academic years.
However, it does recognize that beyond that timeframe the Academy is at significant risk of not being a going
concern if the Local Authority does not address the ongoing issue of 1:1 and 2:'l lop up funding rates for
students. However, at the end of the 20184019 academy accounting period the academy does still have a
greater carry fonrard than the majority of the local authority maintained schools (as per data disseminated at
local schools forum). The demand for special school places is growing significantly and Cavendish has already
had interest from 30 potential placements for Seplember 2020 with only 12 places available to reach capacity.
The local authority holds Cavendish in high regard as is evident from discussions regarding the local SEND
review and future planning for support for resources bases within the local authorig. Due to a significant deficit
in the local authority high needs budget the local authority does expect schools with a high carry fonrard figure to
spend lheir current funds before requesting any additional top up funding, this has been the position for the last
three years, hence why our carry fonrard has been gradually eroded over the past two years.

We believe that it is in the best interests of the local authority to ensure that Cavendish remains a going concern
as it cannot afford for the school not to provide placements, given the continuing and rising high demand for
SEND provision. For this reason the board of trustees continues to adopt the going con@rn basis in preparing
the financial statements. Further details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the
Statement of Accounting Policies.
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limlted by guarantea)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONT|NUEDI
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2OI9

Obiectives and activities (contlnued)
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Flnanclal Revlew

The Academy receives funding from two principal sources: The Education Funding Agency and Halton Local
Authority.

The GeneralAnnual Grant (GAG) received trom the Education Funding Agency is place funding and is paid on a
monthly basis -this amount has not changed for over 5 years no r. ESG has now been phased out but we have
received a protection factor this yeat (2018-201 9) of €13,204.00. For 2019-2020 this protec-tion factor has further
reduc€d to e3,868.04 (a cut of €9,336).

Page 10



THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEi'IY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTTNUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I AUGUST 2019

Obiectives and activities (contlnued)

Top up funding is received from the LocalAuthority's High Needs Funding Block and was historically paid, very
belatedly, on a termly basis - for example the summer term 2018 top up funding was paid in the middle of the
school holidays in August 2018. The local authorig are now working with us to provide documentation to review
and support their per head payments for Spring and Summer 2018 and Autumn 2018, Spring 2019 and Summer
2019; so the Academy can begin to reconcile the payment made with expected/projec-ted income.

Breakdown of academic year 2O1E-2019 School Allocation

Education Services grant

ESG Protecti:n

High Needs Placsment Funding

16 - 19 Student Support Services (Bumary)

t0

€13,200.04

t920,000

e3,004

Total Allocatim from ESFA

Pufi I Premium (yr. 7 -1'l)

e9:!6,204.04

e32,023

Yt 7 Calch up premium

Capital income

e5,000

e7,000
El1,000

Local Authority Hbh Ne€ds Block Top up Funding

H.dtcn
Wanington

St Helens

K.r-pwsloV

Cheshire East

t81 1,103

t74,2ffi
t21,513
€14,699

12,988

?otal lncome from local authortty top up
tundlng

f02't 569

Total 81,9,15,706.0{
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEilY
(A company limlted by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTTNUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2019

Objectives and activities (continued)

The grants received during the year ended 31st August 2019 and associated expenditure are shown as
restricted general funds in the Statement of FinancialActivities.

2014-2019 Education Services Grant (ESG) was decreased:

Academic Year ESG inc any ESG Protection | Oecrease / year CumuhWe decrease

2014 - m15 t54,740

2015 -2016 f44,992 t9,74B f9,748

2016 -2017 t30,.l07 ESG t 2,881.65 protection fl2,003 f2 1,858.35

2011 -2018 TO ESG t22,626.30 prolection f10,255.3s f32, r I 3.70

- 2019 TO ESG €,l3,2ffi.04 protection

f3,868.M proteclion

19,420.26 t11,539.96

f50,871.96

-l
z0lS-m20 fO ESG t9,332

During the year ended 31st August 2019, total expenditure of e2,263,000 was covered by grant funding from the
DfE combined with top up funding from LocalAuthorities and other incoming resources such as Pupil Premium
and year 7 catch-up funding. There was an in year deficit of income under expenditure for the period (excluding
fixed asset funds and pension reserve) of €326,000 but including carry forward from previous years the overall
carry fonrvard was €480,000.

We regulady reassess our 5 year projected budget. Our carry foruard was historically stable and we had been
saving for significant building work to increase capacity and quality of provision. However, the local authority
reduced students individualtop up funding and this has led to us having to use our reserves to sustain etaffing
levels al appropriate health and safety levels instead. We have students with significant challenging behaviour
who require intensive 'l:1 or 2:1 support and have received top up funding of between t7,171 and €14,699. This
combined with their placement funding of €10,000 provides a maximum of €24,699 - a single teaching assistant
costs the school approximately f26,500. This does not include a share of the general running costs of lhe
school or the management either. These placements are not financially, economically sustainable. Once our
reserves have been diminished we will no longer be able to provide placements for these students as it is not
economically feasible. We have been in discussion wilh the local authority about the level of provision we can
afford to offer going forward on the current funding formula and have regrettably inficrmed them we can no longer
sustain the number of 1:1 students we currently provide for on both an economic and health and safety basis.

Our greatest asset and most significant cost is our staff. For health and safety reasons we need to maintain
staffing levels in classrooms. This level of staffing is threatened by rapidly reducing budgets and what are now
becoming increasingly unavoidable in year deficits.

We continue to be very prudent and to mitigate risk we continually work on scenario planning and potentialstaff
restructuring to presenl to governors. We have worked with an ESFA SRMA over the summer and their report
did not identify any significant opportunity for cufting cosls that we had not already considered. The localcontext
of the North West and year-round salaries for teaching assistants is a signilicant factor and the principal has
taken this to the local SEND strategy and relevant SEND sub-committee meetings over the summer of 2019.
The Principal attended NAHT course: Securing long-term financial viability for your school. This again supported
all of the work we have already done.

Page 12



THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTTNUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2019

Objectlves and actlvltles (contlnued)

The local authori$ has historically paid top up funding on a very belated termly basis for a financial year. lt has
not paid on a monthly basis as is standard for academies unless agreed otherwise. There has been no set
schedule for these payments. Therefore, our overall bank balance reduces significantly (approx. t130,000 a
month due to staff salary payments and Sl-A commitments) from the last payment of the academic year in the
summer to the following payment in the autumn term - as there is no payrnent schedule then it could be
September, October or November when payment is made. We need to maintain a minimum balance of
approximately €150,000 in the cunent account to ensure we do not go overdrawn. We met with the local
authority in September 2019 and have now agreed a mutually beneficial payment schedule: we will receive our
top up funding in the second week of each term.

At August 2019, the net book value of fixed assets was €2,370,023 and movements in tangible lixed assets are
shown in Note 11 to the financial statements. The assets were used exclusively for providing education and
associated support services to the pupils of the academy.
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limlted by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I AUGUST 2019

Strateglc Report

Achievements and Performance

i. Key performance indicatorc

2018 Aim: To grow and develop the goveming board
2019 Outcome: The governing board has gained 2 additional trustees

2018 Aim: lmprove strateglc and operational capacity by continuing with distributed leadership strategy to
develop succession plan for middle leaders
2019 Outcome: we supported 2 NPQSL, 2 NPQML, 1 degrees, 1 DTTLS, 1 NQT, 1 RQT and have taken
advantage of free training for CPD as Cat 5 area so NPQML NPQSL training free for 2018-2019.

2018 Aim: lmprove efficiency across the academy
2019 Outcome: New systems introduced have led to some reduced costs going fonarards including a
redundancy in admin office due to paperless system introduction.

2018 Aim: Restructure SLT to reduce costs
2019 Outcome: Reduced SLT by 1 member as they retired wef 31st August 2019 - financial benefit as no
redundancy costs incurred.

2018 Aim: Work with AfA to gain Quality Lead status
2019 Outcome: AfA Quali$ Lead awarded June 2019 - 'Wow! - how impressive, many thanks for this QL
submission and all your hard work to pull this wide mnge of evidence together. The comments frcm parcnts are
really positive." AfA

"l want to add my thanks and apprecialion - for the significant amount of work that has gone into creating the
Quality Lead form and providing us with links to the supporting evidence. lt is of the highest quality that I have
witnessed so far in my role at AfA.' AfA June 2019

2018 Aim: Gain appropriate national awards - distibuted leadership opportunities present themselves through
the action planning and working towards national awards. Ensurc these are fit for purpose and meet what we
already have in place so in effect we accredit what we are already doing and are not aeating extn workload for
the sake of it. Highlights to ourstakeholderc and wider community what we arc very effectively providing for our
sludenfs.
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONT|NUEDI
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I AUGUST 2OI9

Slrateg ic Report (contin ued)

2019 Outcomes - Key Performance lndicators

lnvited to become SSAT Leading Edge School July 2019a

a

a

Awarded the Learning Outside the Classroom Gold Award December 2018.

Awarded the Nurtudng Schools Award awarded June 2019

2 Subject co-ordinators/project leads very successfully contributed to Get Up and Goals lnternational
Seminar for teachers entitled 'Global Challenges in the World - Challenges in Our Teaching' Portugal July
2019. The work they presented was so well received with significant interest from a number of European
countries that it is now going to be published as a resource. Going fonvard we have been asked to be lhe
representative for England on the next project and to represent our country at conferences in ltaly,
Hungary and Sweden.

a

a

RHS Level 1 and Level2 Schools Gardening Award 2019

Jass accredited centre January 2018

2018 Halton Local Authority categorised The Cavendish High Academy as a category A school: High
Performing/Outstanding schools. The descriptor for this category states 'Universal offer and may also be
providing the capacity to support other schools'.

Parents and carers feel valued and welcomed in the establishment. Parents and carers are made to feel
valued and welcomed by all members of staff. Support for families includes coffee mornings,
performances, school fairs and enterprise events. Communicalion is frequent and consistent with home to
school diaries, newsletlers and social media feed. Comments from parents and carers include:

"Here, it is like a big family ... my child has gained great social awareness... he used to shut down but
very quickly seftled here and he is much more relaxed. The staff here understand."

"The school are great ... the support goes beyond the hours in school ... they got to know my daughter
really well and very quickly... They want young people to be their absolute best before they leave."

School rigorously monitors and evaluates pupil progress & celebrates achievement. Outcomes over time
are excellent both at end of key stage and from starting point on entry to leaving the school. Termly
progress assessments identify any students assessed as not yet on trarget and ensure interventions are
timely.

"You and your staff are not afnid to make changes when you see lhaf things are not as effective as you
would like. You have used evidence-based research recently frcm neurcsciencc to improve outcpmes for
pupils, You have launched a thematic cuniculum which succeeds in meeting the wide-mnging needs of
your pupils. You and your staff have reorganised teaching so that pupils spend most of their time in one
class with the same teacher- Your own assessmenf and tracking data evidences the positive difference
these changes have made." Ofsted 2017.

o

a

o
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTTNUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2019

Strateg ic Report (continued)

The main body of our students (61/91, 67%) follow a subject specific curriculum and the reminder (28191,350/0)
follow a non-subject specific curriculum.

English Whole School 18-19

A majority, 760/o (+|Yo on 17-18, 4 pupils), of students are making expected or above progress with 517o (+1olo
on 17-18) students making exceptional progress across the whole school.

KS3 in general terms has a secure spread across Speaking, Reading and Writing with 79olo (+9olo on 17-18)
working within their targets and 50% (+9olo) exceeding their targets. 20o/o ol pupils in this cohort are working
towards their targets this is a reduction of 5olo in comparison to the previous academic year.

The 2oo/o (-50ld of pupils who are working towards their targets amount to 7 students in both subfect specific and
non-subject specific settings across the school. Whilst the number of pupils in this cohort remain static at seven,
the cohort as a group has increased in size from 31 to 34 pupils. This demonstrates a year-on-year improvement
in percentage terms of pupils exceeding their targets, and is testament to the hard work and outstanding
provision our teachers continue to provide, during continued challenging times.

Of the 23 pupils at KS4, 17 are working within or exceeding their targets, therefore 39Yo (-7o/o on 17-1 8) at KS4
are exceeding the targets set for them. 74o/o of this cohort were either working within or exceeding the targets set
for them for this academic year.

Of the six pupils in KS4 working towards their targets three were poor attendees additionally two of lhose were
suffering from significant mental health issues, another was also suffering significant mental health issues and
transitioned between settings within the school, another transitioned between settings and the tinal had
significant health problems.

There were 32 pupils in KSS a reduction in 5 pupils on the previous year (37), of this cohort 24 were working
towards or exceeding their targets, 19 (+1 pupils on 17118) exceeded set targets and I (-2 pupils on 17118)
pupils continued to work towards their targets. These results show an improvement on the pupils exceeding their
targets +11o/o, however the biggest statistical shift was in the working within category with 9olo less pupils in this
category in comparison to the previous 12 months, 25o/o of pupils in this cohort continued to work lowards their
targets a reduction of 2%.

This KS5 cohort contained our last true SLD contingent about to transition from the school, they had reached
their potential and were consolidating their independent living skills and applicalion of knowledge as they
prepared to enter adulthood.

Male and female pupil numbers remained stable with an increase of one pupil in the male cohort from 57 to 58
pupils in 17-18, and a reduction of two pupils from 34 to 32 females in this cohort in 1 7-18.

Both male and female cohorts continue to perform well, with a significant improvement (+6) for males moving
into the working within data set from those working towards their targets.

English continues to be an area of strength across the school.
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEiIIY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTTNUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2019

Strategic Report (continued)

Free School Meale and Non-Free School Meals

During 2016117 there were some differences between these 2 groups with pupils on FSM's aftaining slightly
higher than their counterparts, in English. This has changed during 2017/18 with NFSM outperforming their
counterparts by +8o/o when working within and exceeding their targets and 6% when working towards their
targets.

During the 2018/19 academic year the trend continues but the margins are miniscule with NFSM outperforming
their counterparts by 1olo in troth areas respectively. lt is worth noting that the FSM cohort is larger than the
NFSM cohort by 12 pupils (24%).
The children on FSM's exceeding their targets amount lo 51o/o (26 pupils) of that cohort. Those working within or
exceeding their targets amount to72o/o of lhat cohort (37 pupils).

There were some variances between these 2 groups with pupils on FSM's performing slightly befter than lheir
counterparts, in Mathematics when working towards their targets G7%) demonstrating a +2o/o swing between the
two groups based on previous academic years results.
There is a9o/o (-3o/o on 18/19) variance in pupil attainment of those in receipt of FSM's exceeding their targets in
comparison to their non-FSM counterparls.

PupilPremium

ln English, the pupils exceeding their targets amounted lo 43oh (18 pupils) wilh those excaeding or worklng
within their targets rising to 75oA +60/0 on 17-18 (31 pupils). Those working towards their targets amount to 24o/o
of the cohort, a decrease of 60lo on the previous year (+2 pupils).

During the 2018/19 academic year,75o/o (31141) of pupils in this cohort were working within or exceeding their
targets, with 51% (+3o/o 21141) of those exceeding targets set for them.

Looked After Ghildren (7/89)

10Oo/o of LAC children are working within or exceeding their targets and increase of 43o/o on last years figures, of
these 43% are exceeding iheir targets consistently an increase of 15o/o.

71o/o of LAC children are working within or exceeding their targets, of these 57o/o (+l$0/6) are exceeding their
targets consistently.

28olo of this cohort are working towards their targets in real terms 2 pupils across the school, this cohort consists
of and 2 Pathways students on lEPs working well below age related expectations.

Male and female pupil numbers remained stable with an incraase of one pupil in the male cohort from 57 to 58
pupils in 17-18, and a reduction of two pupils from 34 to 32 females in this cohort in 17-18.

Both male and female cohorts continue to perform well, of the 31 female pupils, 21 are working within or
exceeding their targets (670/ol, 52o/o of femde pupils are exceeding the targets set for them.

Mathematics continues to be an area of slrength across the school.
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH AGADEMY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTTNUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2OI9

Strateglc Report (conti nued)

Mathematios whole echool 2018-2019

670/0 (-3o/o on 18-19, -2 pupils) of students making expected progress or above with 49olo (+1 pupils on 18/19
data) of students making exceptional progress.

All sub-subject areas within Math's at KS3 are performing well. Those exceeding their targets amount lo 44o/o of
the cohort (-10% on 18-19), those working within and exceeding those targets amounting to 66% of the cohort (-
8%), again rigorous baselining at year 6fl transition has affected numbers with those working towards al34o/o
(+9olo) amounting to 11 pupils of these 11 pupils 8 (88%) are pathways pupils on lEPs

Of the 23 pupils at KS4, 15 are working within or exceeding their targets (73o/o +8o/or, over 6070 (+16%)of pupils
at KS4 are exceeding the targets set for them, Of the six pupils working towards their targeis one of those is a
pathways pupil. Of the 13 subject specific pupils 317o (4 pupils) are exceeding their targets, 497o (6 pupils) are
exceeding or working within their targets.

There are 33 pupils in KSS, of this cohort 63% are working towards or exceeding their targets, 45o/o arc
exceeding set targets and 367o pupils continue to work towards their targets, of these pupils six had attendance
issues, two were taught off site, three are in Pathways on lEPs and one is designated EAL

760/o (+60/ol of all pupils at Cavendish are working within or exceeding lheir targets for Mathematics as a core
subject.

Data indicates that Mathematics teaching is again an area of strength across the school.

Summary

Whole subject teaching in Mathematics and English remains strong across the school.

Rigorous transition baselining (year 6 to year 7) has impacted progression in KS3, pupils arriving in the school
can expect to drop between one and in the most extreme cases 4 levels during the baselining process. (a trend
that appears nationally during transition between phases, and may be exacerbated by the leaming needs of our
young people)

ln KSS an additional accreditation stream has been introduced (Ascentis) which will allow pupils to develop their
learning journeys and apply their functional skills in new ways, ASDAN units continue to be taught to some
learners in KSS as this remains the most appropriate accreditation pathways for these pupils.

Opportunities are available to exploit; excellent teaching is taking place and targeted weaknesses are being
managed with appropriate intervenlions being inlroduced to support learning journeys. Teachers share experlise
across departments and dialogue days continue to be a success.
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limlted by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2OI9

Strategic Report (continued)

Accrsdltatlon

For students identified as being least able to make progress whilst using P Levels/B squared as an assessment
tool (e.9. students with PMLD, ASD with severe challenging behaviour) there are very well eslablished alternative
assessment systems in place; Quest, AFLS & ABLLS-r.

2017 -2018
Transition Challenge - 2 awards
Towards lndependence - 67 units passed
Personal Progress Working towards entry 1 - 3 achieved
PSD-Entry1-9 achieved

2018 -2019
Transition Challenge - 3 awards
Towards lndependence - 160 units passed
Personal Progress Working towards entry 1 - 8 achieved
PSD-Entry1-3achieved

Qualllicaton
2017-2018

Lcvcl Awards

Ascentb English Skills Entry 1 20 crcditg
Ascentis Enqlish Skills Entrv 2 6 croditg
Ascentb English Skills Entry 3 2 crcdits
Ascentb Maths Skills Entry 1 28 crcdite
Ascentb Maths Skills Entrv 2 17 crsdltg
Ascent's Malhs Skills Entrv 3 5 crcdlts

Quallfication
2018-2019

Level Awards

Ascentb English Skills Entry 1 22 credits
Ascentis Enolish Skills Entry 2 10 credits
Ascentb Enqlish Skills Entry 3 4 credits
Ascentb Maths Skills Entrv 1 22 credits
Ascentb Maths Skills Entrv 2 12 crcdlte
Ascentis Maths Skills Entry 3 7 credlts

Page 19



THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEiIY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTTNUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3T AUGUST 2019

a

Strategic Report (continued)

Financialreview

a. Reserves policy

A key objective of the Academy is to maintain a structure of prudent financial management.
The aims of the Academy's reserves policy are that the level of reserves should:

mitigate termly cash-flow issues associated with historically lagged local authori$ top up funding though
lhis should improve for 2019-2020 under the new payment schedule agreed.
ensure fluctuations in income (e.9. top up funding leaves with students or reduced student numbers) or
unexpected expenditure (e.9. urgent maintenance work, significant supply costs due to staff illness that is
not covered by insurance) are managed effectively
enable a robust programme for the renewal and replacement of school assets to be developed and
maintained (e.9. school minibus or ICT equipment)
to provide for unexpected emergencies

N.B. SRMA advised reseryes can no longer provide sufficient working capital for future expansion and/or
building this will have to be gained from bids and grants going forward.

The Governors will be mindful that existing students are not disadvantaged through the retention of excessive
reserves. To lhis end the Governors review the reserve levels of the acaderny annually. This review
encompasses the nature of income and expenditure streams, the need to match income with commitments and
the nature of the reserves. The Governors witl keep the level of reserves under review. A Capital & Reserves
policy is now in place. At 31st August 2019 the balance of the Academt's Unrestricted Funds was €390,000 in
surplus and its Restricted General Funds, bar the Pension and Fixed Assets Funds, was 090,000 in surplus

b. lnvestment policy

ln the curent financial climate of ongoing uncertainty and continued low interest rates, the Academy's policy
continues to be to maximise liquidity and minimise risk. This is kept under review.

a

a

a
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEIIY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTTNUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I AUGUST 2OI9

Strategic Report (contlnued)

Financial review (continued)

c. Prlnclpal rlsks and unceilalntiea

The Academy has undertaken work during the period to establish the system of internal control, including
financial, operationaland risk management which is designed to protect the Academy's assets and reputation.
The most significant risks are identified below:

Local authority High Needs Block Top Up Funding being reduced significantly mid-academic and financialyear
for the Academy presents signiftcant issues for budget setting and management. lt has meant that we have
been extremely cautious when spending over the past academic year. lt will not be sustainable for us to take any
further cut to funding from the l-A without it putting the academy at financial risk as a going concern.

April2014 - March 2015 1.57o reduction (MFG)
April2015 - March 2016 1.57o reduction (MFG)
April2016 - March 2017 7% reduc{ion (no MFG)
April2017 - March 2018 banding figures remained same - no inflation so real terms cut.
April 2018 - March 2019 banding figures cut by e510 / pupil cut to funding = €46920 cut - approx. 57o
reduction
April 2019 - March 2020 banding figures not cut but underlying rate of inflation and slafling cost increase
such as the teaching assistants pay award which cost the school €32,000 with no additional income to offset.

Underlying rate of inflation and staffing costs:

The Academy is mindful of inflation. We project our 5 year budgets mindful of the national picture: teaching staff
pay rates and pension contributions as per national agreements and support staff pay rate increases (11% over
2year 1st April 2018 & 1st April 2019 - this cost us an addltional e32,000 for 2019 alone) in-line with government
policy on public sector pay. The Academy is mindful of progression within salary grades due to successful
appraisal increases costs. Recruitment and retention of skilled SEN staff also increases costs. lt is becoming
increasingly common for SLTs to decrease in size and for schools to restructure without deputy heads and the
like but we must also remain mindful of workforce well-being, work{ife balance and quality of provision when
considering such options for cutting budget costs.

We are very prudent and are mindful of the need to continue being as efiicient as we possibly can be. We
carefully monitor our finances and benchmark regularly as we need to ensure we have reEerves to maintain
staffing in the classrooms to support the pupils in future years and ensure the budget does not go into overall
deficit as opposed to the current in year deficits that are projected.

It has become impossible to continue to provide some services: this year we have had to take the difiicult
decision to cut external counselling provision, external PPA cover activities and an IAG contract. Previously we
have reduced lhe number of trained speech and language therapists as they are non-classroom based staff and
we had to begin reducing our curriculum offer e.g. we can no longer afford to staff rebound therapy sessions or
to repair and run one of our minibuses. The hydrotherapy pool is cunently under-threat as it carries a
considerable operational cost both in financial and staffing terms and does not represent effective value for
money therefore under current funding it will not be sustainable.
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THE CAVENDISFI HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limited by guarantee)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I AUGUST 2019

Strateg ic Report (continued)

Financlal review (continued)

lncreased the number of governors with significant financial and business experience.

Principal has focused own personal CPD on financial trainlng including NAHT Securing long-term viability for
your school and Finance for Non-Finance Directors (in>pd & Chester University) to ensure equipped to best
meet lhese financial challenges.

Fundraising

Governors recognize they must act in the charity's best interest, manage the charity's resources responsibly and
act with reasonable skill and care. The academy trust does not use any externalfundraisers.

Plans for future periods

The local authority is currently reviewing SEND provision so we will need to hold an extraordinary Govemors
meeting to discuss the role of Cavendish in terms of our vision for provision and to consider the most effective
and least risk use of reserves to ensure future provision for students remalns as effective as possible for as long
as possible.

Within the local area contexl: Consider and scenario plan restructure of staffing as we cannot reduce costs
significantly enough in any other area of the budget. The ongoing impact of decreased top up funding, continual
erosion of ESG, increase in staffing costs not fully met by any pay award grants or pension grant distributed by
the LA or from central government and the year on year erosion of place funding value (which hasn't been
increased for a significant number of years) means a continual and increasing challenge to decrease in year
deficits year on year.

Review the school population and consider future economic viability of placement capacity taking into account
reduced funding, reduced staffing and therefore also significant health and safety considerations.

Utilise lntegrated cuniculum and finance review planning going forwards. Use to analyse our potential
collaborative purchasing power and possible centralised purchasing. Utilise ICFP to ensure we are making best
use of available resouroes and are offering an affordable curriculum and appropriate number of economically
viable placements,

We aim to deliver best practice including:. Education-basedfinancialplanning. 3-5 year strategic financial planning based on a clear vision for delivering school improvement. Prioritising the most effective and efficient deployment of staff - reviewing job descriptions and leadership
structure.. Looking at cost-effectiveness of classroom provision

. Limiting spend on back office and procurement as far as is viabler Ensuring staff managing finance access appropriate training for continuing professional developmento Ensuring financial systems and processes in place across the school remain transparent and continue to
encourage constructive challenge

Funds held as custodian on behalf of otherc

The School does not hold funds on behalf of others.
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEi|Y
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TRUSTEES' REPORT (CONTTNUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3,I AUGUST 2O{9

Dlsclosurc of lnformatlon to audltor

lnsofar as the Trustees are aware:

r there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company's auditor is unaware, and
r that Trustees have traken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselvee aware of any

relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that inbrmation.

The Trustees' rcport was approved by order of the board of Trustees, as the company directors, on 13
December 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

CA Howard
Chair of Trustees
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEiIY
(A company limited by guarantee)

GOVERNANCE STATETIENT

Scope of responslblllty

As Trustees, we acknowledge we have overall responsibilig for ensuring that The Cavendish High Academy has
an effective and appropriate system of control, financial and othenrise. However, such a system is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable
and not absolute assuran@ against material misstatemsnt or loss.

The board of Trustees has delegated the day-today responsibilig to the Principal Head Teacher (Elaine Haver),
as accounting officer, for ensuring financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good
financial management and in accordance with the requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the fundlng
agreement between The Cavendish High Academy and the Secretary of Strate for Education. They are also
responsible for reporting to the board of Trustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in intemal control.
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limited by guarantee)

GOVERNANCE STATETUENT (CONTTNUED)

Governance

The information on governanoe included here supplements that described in the Trustees' report and in the
statement of trustees' responsibilities. The board of Trustees has formally mel 3 times during the year.

Attendance during lhe year at meetings of the board of Trustees was as follows:

Trustee Meetings attended Out of a possible

C A Howard, Chair
E Haver, Principal
L McMillian, Vice Chair
G Price
J Richmond
D Sadler
T Doyle
E Newton

We have successfully recruited 2 new governors to the board in 2019. Both have brought additionalfinance and
business skill set to the governors. We continue to actively recruit governors using websiles such as
governorsforschools. org. uk

The Business & Continuity committee is a sub<ommiftee of the main board of trustees. lts purpose is to manage
& monitor the academy finances: Providing financial oversight, scrutinizing the budget, to ensure value for
money, providing an opportuni$ for detailed discussion and consideration of financial matters, with regular
reporting to the full management committee. lt may be given delegated authority for some financial decision-
making, but the Full Goveming Body as a whole remains accountiable and must still remain aclively engaged in
financial matters.

During the year Elisha Newton joined the governing board. Elisha has extensive experience of financial planning
and management as part of her job as a finance director as well as experience of procuremenUpurchasing and
premises/facilities management.

Trustee

C A Howard, Chair
E Haver, Principal
L McMillian, Mce Chair
G Price
D Sadler
T Doyle
E Newton

Meetings attended Out of a possible

3
2
3
3
2
0
2
2

3
3
3
3
3
3
3
2

3
3
3
3
3
3
2

3
3
2
3
0
3
2
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limlted by guarantee)

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTTNUED)

Review of value for money

As accounting officer the Principal has responsibility for ensuring that the academy trust delivers good value in
the use of public resources. The accounting officer understands that value for money refers to the educational
and wider societal outcomes achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received. The accounting officer has
attended NAHT training couftie Securing long-term viability for your school and used this course to review and
discuss current situation with another extemal professional with extensive experience and to seek potential
alternative income generation opportunities. The outcome was we have already utilized the vast majority of tools
at our disposal to review our financial viability & support our benchmarking and had already undertaken a range
of exercises as presented at the course. We utilise the Academies Financial handbook, the DfE Financial
Benchmarking website, the DfE website - schools financial health and efficiency collection and have signed up
for and used a number of the DfE kist of providers to support improving financial viability.

The school has utilized the services of an SRMA from the ESFA to review the schools financial situation, The
SRMA report did not identiff any further savings opportunities that had not already been identified by the
accounting officer, chief financial officer and the board of trustees.

The accounting officer considers how the trust's use of its resources has provided good value for money during
each academic year, and reports to the board of trustees where value for money can be improved, including the
use of benchmarking data where appropriate. The accounting officer for the academy trust has delivered
improved value for money during lhe year by:

Reduction in out of class staffing costs to facilitate increased number of support staff in class.o Reduction in SLT to reduce overall staffing costs. Financial benchmarking against similar schools using the DfE Financial Benchmarking website. Using the Schools financial health and efficiency collecUon. Using the DfE list of providers to support improving financial viabilityo Reviewing worKorce deployment for effectiveness and efficiencies. Maximising potential of existing staff. Utilising DfE deals - Crown Purchasing Consortium
- RPA - insurance

- SchoolSwitch - utilities
- Advertising jobs in Teaching Vacancies - Dfe Teacher recruitment website
- Registering with DfE supply teachers and temporary staffr Reviewing utilisation of space and considering income generating possibilitiesr Categorising budget expenditure into essentials/desirables and RAG rating for recovery plan.o True deficit pushed back by a year on 5 year forecast plan that the SRMA considered to be based on

. sound assumptions and to represent a best estimate of future costs and revenue.

The purpose ofthe system of internal control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. lt can, therefore, only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is baeed on an on-going prooess designed to identiff
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Academy policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of
those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically. The system of internal control has been in place in The Cavendish High Academy for the year 1
September 201 8 to 31 August 2019 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements.
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTTNUED)

Capacity to handle risk

The board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the Academy is exposed together with the operating,
financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The board of Trustees is
of the view that there is a formal ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the Academy's
significant risks that has been in place for the year 1 September 2018 to 31 August 2019 and up to the date of
approval of the annual report and financial statements. This process is regularly reviewed by the board of
Trustees.

The risk and control framework

The Academy's system of internallinancial control is based on a framework of regular management informalion
and adminislrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and accountability.
In particular, it includes:

comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial reports
which are reviewed and agreed by the board of Trustees
regular reviews by the Finance and General Purposes Commiftee of reports which indicate financial
performance against the forecasts and of major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure
programmes
setting targets to measure financialand other performance
clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines
delegation of authority and segregation of duties
identification and management of risks

The board of trustees has considered the need for a specific internal audit function and has decided:
not to appoint an intemal auditor. However, from 20h June 2017, the trustees appointed trustee T Doyle as
responsible officer and from 15b September 2019 Elisha Newton has taken up the role of chair of the Business
Continuity Sub Commiftee and is working with the chief finance officer to consider best format for finance
reporting using new on-line finance system adopted as of 1s September 2019.

The Business Continuity Committee role includes giving advice on financial matters and performs a range of
internal checks on the academy trust's financial systems. The Principal Head Teacher, Chair of Govemors, and
from October 2019 the Chair of the Business Gontinuity Committee, receive monthly cash flow statements from
the Academy's Finance Officer. A budget report is provided on a termly basis (3 x annually) to the board of
trustees, through the Business & Continuity Committee, as well as reports on the operation of the systems of
control and on the discharge of the board of trustees' financial responsibilities.

Revlew of effectiveness

As accounting officer, the Principal Head Teacher (Elaine Haver) has responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control. During the year in question the review has been informed by:

the work of the the Business Continuity committee members; especially Tom Doyle & Elisha Newton ;

the work of the ESFA SRIiA;
the work of the external accountant
the work of the extemal auditor

o
a
a
a

a
a
a
a
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(A company limited by guanntee)

GOVERNANCE STATETf, ENT (CONTINUED)

The accounting oflicer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of lhe system of intemal
control by the Busineos Continuig Committee and also following discussions with the ESFA and the follow up to
the SRMA report of September 2019 a Finance action plan (as part of the wider school development plan) has
been written to ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.

Approved by order of the members of the board of Trustees on 13 December 2019 and signed on their behalf
by:

4*A/\
GA Howard
Chair of Trustees tr" E Haver

Head Teacher
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(A company limlted by guarantee)

STATEUENT ON REGUI.ARIW, PROPRI ETY AN D COITIIPLIANCE

As accounting officer of The Cavendish High Academy I have considered my responsibility to notiry the Academy
board of Trustees and the Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) of material irregularity, impropriety and
non-compliance with terms and condilions of all funding received by the Academy, under the funding agreement
in place between the Academy and the Secretary of State for Education. As part of my consideration I have had
due regard to the requirements of the Academies Financial Handbook 2018.

I confirm that I and the Academy board of Trustees are able to identiff any material irregular or improper use of
all funds by the Academy, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions of funding under the
Academy's funding agreement and the Academies Financial Handbook 2018.

I confirm that no instances of material irregularig, improprieg or funding non-compliance have been discovered
to date. lf any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to the board of
trustees and ESFA.

C A Howard, Ghair
Chair of Trustees
Date: 13 December 2019 ^vL,/

(
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEiIY
(A company llmited by guarantee)

STATEMENT OF TRUSTEES' RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2019

The Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are
responsible for preparing lhe Trustees' report and the financial statements in accordance with the Academies
Accounts Direction published by the Education & Skills Funding Agency, United Kingdom Accounting Standards
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under company law
the Trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming resources and application of resources,
including its income and expenditure, for that period. ln preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are
required to:

o select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
. observe the methods and principles of the Charities SORP 2015 and the Academies Accounts Direction

2018 to 2019;. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
o state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures

disclosed and explained in the financial statements;r pr€pare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
charitable company will continue in business-

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the charitable company's transactions and disclose with reasonabto accuracy at any time the financial position of
the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies
financial and other controls, which conform with the requirements both of propriety and of good financial
management. They are also responsible for ensuring grants received from ESFA/DfE have been applied for the
purposes intended.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the charitable company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by order of the members of the board on 13 December 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

C A Howard
Chair of Trustees
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOITS REPORT TO THE UEMBERS OF THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEIiIIY

Oplnion

We have audited the financial stalements of Cavendish High Academy ("the Academy'') for the year ended 3'1

August 2019 which comprise the statement of financial activities (incorporating income and expenditure
account), balance sheet, statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of lreland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice) and the Academies Accounts Direction 2018 to 2019 issued by the Education & Skills
Funding Agency (ESFA).

ln our opinion, the financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the Academy's affairs as at 3'1 August 2019 and of its incoming
resources and application of regources, including its income and expenditure, for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice;
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and
have been prepared in accordance the Academies Accounts Direction 2018 to 2019.

Baeie for oplnion

We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditing (UK) 0SAs (UK)) and applicable
lau Our responsibilities under those standards are further described ln the Audito/s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our reporl. We are independent of the Academy in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statemenls in the UK, including the FRC's
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance witt these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concem

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the lSAs (UK) require us to
report to you where:

r the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of lhe financial statements is
not appropriate; or

r the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt about the Academy's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are
authodsed for issue.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon. The Trustees are responsible for the other information. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent othenrise
explicitly stated ln our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

ln connection wilh our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. lf we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material

a

a
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
(coNTTNUED)

misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. 1l based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other mattec prescrlbed by the Gompanlee Act 2006

ln our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

the information given in the Trustees' report, which includes the Directors' Report and the Strategic report
prepared for the pueoses of Company Law, for the financial year for which the financial slatements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
the Strategic report and the Directors' Report, which are included in the Trustees' report, have been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Mafters on which we are required to report by exception

ln the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Academy and its environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees' report or the Strategic report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the bllowing matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion;

adequate accounting records have not been kepl, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or
lhe financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of Trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received allthe information and explanations we require for our audit.

ResponsibilitieE of Trustees

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees' Responsibilities, the Trustees are responsible for the
preparation of lhe financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fuir view, and for such
internal control as the Trustees determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from materlal misstatement, whether due to fraud or eror.

ln preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Academy's ability to
continue as a going oon@rn, disclosing, as appticable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Academy or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audlto/e responsibilities for the audit of the financlal statements

We have been appointed as auditor under the Companies Act 2006 and report in accordance with the Act and
relevant regulations made or having effect thereunder.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or enor, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurcrnce, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with lSAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Migstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material il indivldually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be

a

a
a
a
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
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expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statemenls is located at the Financial
Reporting Council's website at:
hftps:/Antww.frc.org.uUauditorsresponsibilities. This description forms parl of our audito/s report.

Uee of our report

This report is made solely to the Academy's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Academy's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an audito/s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Academy and the
Academy's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

BPo hLF
Heten Knowles (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behatf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Manchester
United Kingdom

t 8-t2 rl
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANT'S ASSUMNCE REPORT ON REGULARIW TO THE
CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEiIY AND THE EDUCATION & SKILLS FUNDING AGENCY

ln accordance with the terms of our engagement lefter dated 25/09/19 and further to the requirements of the
Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) as included in the Academies Accounts Direction 2018 to 2019, we
have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether the expenditure disbursed and
income received by The Cavendish High Academy during the year 1 September 2018 to 31 August 2019 have
been applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.

This report is made solely to The Cavendish High Academy and the ESFA in accordance with the terms of our
engagement letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to The Cavendish High Academy and
ESFA those matters we are required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than The Cavendish High Academy and
ESFA, for our work, for this report, or for the conclusion we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of The Cavendish High Academy's accounting offlcer and the
reportlng accountant

The accounting officer is responsible, under the requirements of The Cavendish High Academy's funding
agreement with the Secretary of State for Education dated 1 August 2011 and the Academies Financial
Handbook, extant from 1 September 2018, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is
applied for the purposes intended by Parliament and the ftnancial transactions conform to the authorities which
govern them.

Our responsibillties for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession's ethical
guidance and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement lefter and the
requirements of the Academies Accounts Direction 2018 to 2019. We report to you whether anything has come
to our aftention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and
income received during the year 1 September 2018 to 31 August 2019 have not been applied to purposes
intended by Padiament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them.

Approach

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction 2018 to 2019 issued by
ESFA We performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in our engagement letter.

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and
explanalions in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on
regularity.

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope ihan a reasonable assurance engagement and
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that
might be identified ln a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion.

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety of the
Academy's income and expenditure.

The work undertaken to draw our conclusion includes an assessment of the level of risk associated with the
specific categories of income and expenditure and the potentialfor inegularities to be identifted.
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Gonclusion

ln the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggest in all material respects the
expenditure disbursed and income received during the year 1 September 2018 to 31 August 2019 has not been
applied to purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities
which govern them.

BDo rkP
BDO LLP
Reporting Accountant
Manchester
United Kingdom

18- lz - 11
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIV|TIES 0NCORPORATTNG tNCOitE AND EXPENDTTURE ACCOUNT)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2019

Noto

Unrestricted
funds
2019
f000

Restrlcted
funds

2019
€000

1,917

Restricted
flxed aeset

funds
2019
e000

19

Total
funds

2019
€000

Total
funds

2018
8000

7
1,935

3

lncome from:
Donations and capital

grants
Charitable activities
Other trading activities

Totalincome
Expenditure on:
Charitable activities

Total expenditure

Net
income(expendlture)

Transfers between
funds

Net movement in
funds beforc other
recognised
galns/(losses)
Other recognlsed
gains(losses):
Actuarial losses on

defined benefit
pension schemes

Net movement in
funds

2
3
4

t9
1,917

1I

1 1,917 19 1,937 1,945

5 2,160 103 2,263 2,268

2,160 r03 2,263 2,268

1 (243' (84) (326) (323)

14

19

(6) 6

1

(78)1

(24e1 (78) (326) (323)

(343) (343) 194

(se2) (66e) (12s)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I AUGUST 2019

Note

Unreetrlcted
funds

2019
8000

Restrlcted
funds

2019
e000

Restrlcted
flxed asset

funds
2019
e000

Total
lunds

2019
f,o00

Total
funds

2018
€000

2,622
(12e)

Reconclliation of
funds:
Total funds brought

forward
Net movement in funds

Total funds carrled
forward

389

390

(344) 2,449 2,493
1 (5e2)

(s36) 2,370 1,824 2,493

(66e)(78)

The Statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year

The notes on pages 41 to 65 form part of these financial stratemenls.
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REGISTERED NUiiBER: 08789220

BAI.ANCE SHEET
AS AT 3t AUGUST 2019

2019
€000

20r8
e000

Fixed assets
Tangible assets

Current asssts
Debtors
Gash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one
yeat

Net current assets

Total aseets less current llabilities

Net aseets excludlng penslon llablllty
Defined benefit pension scheme liability

Total net assets

Note

11

12

13

19

2,370 2,448

2,370

tt80

2,850

2,448

46
516

53
623

676562

(82) (8t1

595

2,850

(1,026)

3,043

3,043

(550)

1,824 2,493
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BALANCE SHEET (CONTTNUED)
AS AT 3r AUGUST 20t9

2019
€000

2018
e000

Funds ofthe Academy
Reetrlcted funds:
Fixed asset funds
Restricted income funds

Restricted funds excluding pension liability

Pension reserve

Total reelricted funds
Unrestricted lncome funds

Total funds

Noto

14
14

14
14

2,170

2,460

(1,026)

2,448
20690

14

14

2,654

(550)

1,434
390

2,104
389

1,824 2,493

The financial statements on pages 36to65 were approved by the Trustees, and authorised for issue on 13
December2019 and are signed on their behalf, by:

CA Howard, Chair

The notes on pages 41 to 65 form part of these statements.
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STATET'ENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I AUGUST 2019

Cash flows from operating activitles

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flowc from inveeting activltles

Change in cash and cash equlvalents in the year

Gash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Caeh and cash equivalents atthe end oftheyear

The notes on pages 41 to 65 from part of these financial statements

Note

16

17

18

2019
€000

(101)

(6)

(r07)

623

2018
€000

(78)

(13)

(el)

714

516 623
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THE CAVENDISH HIGH ACADEMY
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2OI9

1 Accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently,
except where noted), judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements of the Academy, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been
prepared under the historic cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard
Applicable in the UK and Republic of lreland (FRS 102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities:
Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance
with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of lreland (FRS 102)
(Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Academies Accounts Direction 2018 to 2019 issued by ESFA, the
Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006.

The Cavendish High Academy meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.

1.2 Going concern

After making appropriate enquiries, the board of trustees has a reasonable expectation that the
academy trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 2019-2020 and
2020-2021 academic years. However, it does recognize that beyond that timeframe the Academy is
at significant risk of not being a going concern if the Local Authority does not address the ongoing
issue of 1:1 and 2:1 top up funding rates for students. However, at the end of the 2018-2019
academy accounting period the academy does still have a greater carry forward than the majority of
the local authority maintained schools (as per data disseminated at local schools forum). The
demand for special school places is growing significantly and Cavendish has already had interest
from 30 potential placements for September2O2O with only 12 places available to reach capacity.
The local authority holds Cavendish in high regard as is evident from discussions regarding the local
SEND review and future planning for support for resources bases within the local authority. Due to
a significant deficit in the local authority high needs budget the local authority does expect schools
with a high carry forward figure to spend their current funds before requesting any additional top up
funding, this has been the position for the last three years, hence why our carry forward has been
gradually eroded over the past two years.

We believe that it is in the best interests of the local authority to ensure that Cavendish remains a
going concern as it cannot afford for the school not to provide placements, given the continuing and
rising high demand for SEND provision. For this reason the board of trustees continues to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2OI9

1. Accountingpolicies(continued)

1.3 lncome

All income is recognised once the academy has entitlement to the income, it is probable that the
income will be received and the amount of income receivable can be measured reliably.

Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities incorporating lncome and Expenditure
Account on a receivable basis. The balance of income received for specific purposes but not
expended during the period is shown in the relevant funds on the Balance Sheet. Where income is
received in advance of entitlement of receipt, its recognition is deferred and included in creditors as
deferred income. Where entitlement occurs before income is received, the income is accrued.

General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities incorporating
income and Expenditure Account in the year for which it is receivable and any abatement in respect
of the period is deducted from income and recognised as a liability.

Capital grants are recognised in full when there is an unconditional entitlement to the Grant.
Unspent amounts of capital grant are reflected in the balance sheet in the restricted fixed asset
fund. Capital grants are recognised when there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of
the asset on which they are expended

Sponsorship income provided to the academy which amounts to a donation is recognised in the
Statement of Financial Activities incorporating lncome and Expenditure Account in the period in
which it is receivable, where receipt is probable and it is measurable.

Donations are recognised on a receivable basis where receipt is probable and the amount can be
reliably measured.

Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period in which lt is receivable and
to the extent the goods have been provided or on completion of the service.

Goods donated for resale are included at fair value, being the expected proceeds from sale less the
expected cost of sale. lf it is practical to assess the fair value at receipt, it is recognised in stock and
'income from other trading activities Upon sale, the value of stock is charged against'income from
other trading activities' and the proceeds are recognised as 'income from other trading activities'.
Where it is impractical to fair value the items due to the volume of low value items they are not
recognised in the financial statements until they are sold. This income is recognised within 'income
from other trading activities'.

The School received a deed of variation dated 01 February 2014 relating to its Funding Agreement.
Clause 78 of the Funding Agreement has been deleted and replaced with the following clause.

At the beginning of any Academy Financial Year the Academy Trust may hold unspent GAG from
previous Academy financial Years amounting to such percentage (if any) as for the time being
specified in the Academies Financial Handbook or othenrise as the Secretary of State may specify
by notice in writing to the Academy Trust prior to the beginning of that Academy Financial Year of
the total GAG payable for the Academy in the Academy Financial Year just ended or such higher
amount as may from time to time be agreed. The Academy Trust shall use such carried forward
amount for such purpose, or subject to such restriction on its use, as for the time being specified in
the Academies Financial Handbook or othenryise as the Secretary of State may specify by notice in
writing to the Academy Trust.
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1. Accountingpolicies(continued)

1.4 Expenditure

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic
benefit to a third party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in
settlement and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is classified by
activity. The costs of each activity are made up of the total of direct costs and shared costs,
including support costs involved in undertaking each activity. Direct costs attributable to a single
activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more than one
activity and support costs which are not attributable to a single activity are apportioned between
those activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources. Central staff costs are allocated on
the basis of time spent, and depreciation charges allocated on the portion of the asset's use.

Expenditure on charitable activities are costs incurred on the academy's educational operations,
including support costs and those costs relating to the governance of the academy appointed to
charitable activities.

All expenditure is inclusive of irrecoverable VAT

1.5 Tangible fixed assets

All assets costing more than €500 are capitalised and are carried at cost, net of depreciation and
any provision for impairment.

Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the
government or from the private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost and
depreciated over their expected useful economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached
to the funding requiring the continued use of the asset, the related grants are credited to a restricted
fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities and carried forward in the Balance Sheet.
Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged directly to the restricted fixed asset fund in the
Statement of FinancialActivities. Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with unrestricted
funds, depreciation on such assets is charged to the unrestricted fund.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land and assets under
construction, at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a straight-line basis over its
expected useful life with a nil residual value.

The Trust separately identifies the major components of its schools buildings and charges
depreciation so as to write-down the cost of each component to its estimated residual value, over its
expected useful life.
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1. Accountingpolicies(contlnued)

1.5 Tanglble fixed assets (contlnued)

Depreciation is provided on the following bases:

Structure
Furniture and equipmenl
Computer equipment
Boilers
Kitchen

- 50 years
- 10% straight line
- 33% straight line
- 15 years
- 15 years

Assets in the course of construction are included at cost. Depreciation on these assets is not charged
until they are brought into use and reclassified to freehold or leasehold land and buildings. A review
for impairment of a fixed asset is canied out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying value of
fixed assets and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. lmpairment losses are
recognised in the Statement of FinancialActivities.

1.6 Debtors

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount after any lrade discount offered.
Prepayments are valued al the amount prepaid net of any trade discounls due.

1.7 Liabilities

Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past
event, it is probable that a lransfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount
of lhe settlement can be estimated reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the Academy
anticipates it will pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the
goods or services it must provide.

1.8 Provisions

Provlsions are recognised when the Academy has an obligation at the reporting date as a result of a
past event which it is probable will result in the transfer of economic benefits and the obligation can
be estimated reliably.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to seltle the obligation. Where
the effect of the time value of money is material, the provision is based on the present value of those
amounts, discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. The
unwinding of the discount is recognised within interest payable and similar charges.

1.9 Leased aaasta

Rentals under operating leases are charged on a slraight line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2OI9

1. Accountingpolicles(continued)

l.{ 0 Financial instrumente

The Academy only holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRS 102. The financial assets and
financial liabilities of the Academy and their measurement bases are as follows:

Financialassefs - trade and other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instruments
measured at amortised cost as detailed in note 12. Prepayments are not financial instruments.
Amounts due to the Academy's wholly owned subsidiary are held at face value less any impairment.
Cash at bank is classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured al face value.

Financial |iabilities - trade creditors, accruals and other credilors are financial instruments, and are
measured at amortised cost as detailed in note 13. Taxation and socialsecudty are not included in
the financial instruments disclosure definition. Deferred income is not deemed to be a financial
liability, as the cash settlement has already taken place and there is an obligation to deliver services
rather than cash or another financial instrument. Amounts due to the Academy's wholly owned
subsidiary are held at face value less any impairment.

l.l1Taxation

The Academy is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act
2010 and therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes.

Accordingly, the Academy is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains
received within categories covered by Part 11, chapter 3 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section
256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the eldent that such income or gains are
applied exclusively to charitable purposes.
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{. Accountingpolicies(continued}

1.12 Pensions benefits

Retirement benefits to employees of the academy trust are provided by the Teachers' Pension
Scheme ("TPS") and the Local Governments Pension Scheme ('LGPS"). These are defined benefit
schemes.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of
pensions over employees'working lives with the academy in such a way that the pension cost is a
substantially level percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are
determined by the Government Actuary on the basis of quadrennial valuations using a prospective
unit credit method. As stated in note 19, the TPS is a multi-employer scheme and there is insufficient
information available to use defined benefit accounting. The TPS is therefore treated as a defined
contribution scheme for accounting purposes and the contributions recognised in the period to which
they relate.

The LGPS is a funded scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the academy trust in
separate trustee administered funds, Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and
liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and discounted at
a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and
currency to the liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at
each Balance Sheet date. The amounts charged to operating surplus are the current service costs
and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes, s€ttlements and curtailments. They are
included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is also
recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities incorporating lncome and Expenditure Account
and comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme
assets, calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by
the rate used to discount the benefit obligations. The difference between the interest income on lhe
scheme assets and the actual return on the scheme assets is recognised in other recognised gains
and losses.

Actuarialgains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses.

1.13 Fund accounting

Unreslricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the
charitable objects of the Academy at the discretion of the Trustees.

Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes
imposed by the funders where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose.

Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions imposed by the
funder/donor and include grants from the Department for Education Group.
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l. Accountingpolicies(contlnued)

1.14 Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Critical accounling estimates and assumptions:

The academy trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates and assumptions will, by deflnition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are diecussed below.

Local Government Pension Scheme

The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a
number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The
assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any
changes in these assumptions, which are disclosed in note 19, will impacl the carrying amount of the
pension liability. Furthermore a nil fonrvard approach which projects results from the latest full
actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2016 has been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions
liabili$ at 31 August 2019. Any differences between the flgures derived from the roll fonrvard
approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability.

Tangible Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets, other than invesUnent properlies, are depreciated over their useful lives taking
into account residual values, where appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and residual values
are assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of fac{ors. ln re-assessing asset lives.
factors such as technological innovation, product life cycles and maintenance programmes are taken
inlo account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, the
remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values.

Critical areas of judgment:

ln preparing these financial statements, the directors have made the following judgements:

Determine whether there are indicators of impairment of the company's tangible assets. Factors
taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include the economic viability and expected
future financial performance of the asset and where is it a component of a larger cash generating
unit, the viability and expected future performance of that unit.

The most important factor in delermining the amount of GAG the school received each year is the
number of pupils on roll. Regular reports are provided to members of the Finance Committee
estimating the size of the School Budget. These are updated as and when changes take place with
regards to intrakes.
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2, lncome from donatlons and capital grants

Grants

3, FundingforAcademy'seducatlonaloperatione

DFE ESFA grants
General Annual Grant (GAG
Olher DYE/ESFA granls

Other government grants
Local authorig grants

Restrlcted
flxed acget

funds
2019
e000

19

Total
funds

2019
€000

t9

Total
funde

2018
8000

7

Restricted
funds
2019
8000

Total
funds
2019
€000

Totals
funds
2018
f000

956
32

9.16u946
34

980 980 988

936 936 939

936 939936

II1

Other income from the academy
Trusts educational operations

1 I 8

1,9351,917

1,935

1,917

1,935Total 2018
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Restricted
funds
2018
€000

Total
funds
2018
€000

Totals
funds
2017
e000

DFE/ESFA grants
General Annual Grant (GAG
Other DYE/ESFA grants

Other government grants
Local authority grants

Other income from the academy trusts educational
operations

Total 20{7

4, lncome from other tradlng actlvltles

Staff Consultancy

970
36

956
32

956
32

988

939 913

988

939

1,006

939 939 913

I I 18

8 8 18

1,935

1,937

1,935

1,937

1,937

Unrestrlctod
fundc
2019
€000

Total
funds

2019
c000

Total
fundg

2018
e000

31
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5. Expenditure

Academy's educational operations:

Direct costs
Allocated support costs

Academy's educational operations:

Direct costs
Allocated support costs

Charitable activities

Staff Costs
2019
f000

1,477
316

Premieeo
2019
t000

Other
20r9
€000

95
165

Total
2019
f,o00

Premises
2018
€000

98
116

Other
2018
e000

75
185

1,670
593

Total
2018
f000

98
112

1,793

Staff Coete
20t8
€000

1,47',1

323

2't0 260 2,263

Total expenditure was e2,263,000 (2018: t2,268,000) of which €Nil (2018: €Nil) was unrestricted,
e2,160,000 restricted (2018: F2,165,000) and €103,000 restricted fixed assets (2018: €103,000).

'l ,u4
624

1,794 214 260 2,269

Total expenditure was 82,268,000 (2017: 82,130,000) of which eNil (2017: €Nil) was unrestricted,
€2,165,000 restricted (20'17: M,025,000) and e103,000 restricted fixed assets (2017:€105,000).

6. Analysle of expenditure by activities

Activities
undertaken

directly
2019
€000

1,670

Support
costs
2019
e000

Total
funds

2019
8000

593 2,263
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6. Analysls of expendlture by activities (continued)

Charitable activities

Analysis of eupport costs

Staff costs
Depreciation
Other support costs
Technology costs
Premises costs
Governance costs

Net income(expendlturef

Net income(expenditure) for the year includes:

Operating lease rentals
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets

- owned by the charity
Fees paid to auditor for:

- audit
- other services

9000

1,6M 624 2,268

Actlvltlee
undertaken

Actlvities
20r9
€000

316
5

'128
14

102
28

Support
costg
2018
e000

Total
funds

2019
€000

316
5

128
14

142
28

Total
funds
2018
€000

Total
funda
20t8
e000

323
5

154.9
'l'12
21

directly
2018

624593593

7

2018
t000

2019
8000

1 1

{03 103

11 '12

3 8
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8. Staff cogts

a. Staff costs

Staff costs during the year were as follows:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pension costs

Agency straff costs
Staff restructuri n g costs

Staff restructuring costs comprise:

Staff restructuring costs

Teachers
Administrations and support
Management

2019
e000

1,264
fi8
35,1

20,18
8000

1,244
122
367

1,793

59
I

1,733

1,793 1,794

55
6

201s
f,000

I

2018
€000

6

61

b. Nonctatutory/non.contractuat etaff eeveranco paymontg

lncluded in staff restructuring costs is one non-statutory/non.contracfural payment of 8561 (2018: 85,8471
which was agreed on the 1 7 Septomber 2019 and paid to staff memberc in October 2019.

c. Staff numbep

The average number of persons employed by the Academy dudng the year was as follows:

2019
No.

2018
No.

I
37
4

11

38
4
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8. Staff coste (continued)

d. Higher paid staff

The _number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) exceeded
€60,000 was:

2019 2018
No.

ln the band e60,001 - €70,000
ln the band e70,001 - 880,000
ln the band €80,001 - e90,000

Trustees' remuneration and expenses

One or more Trustees has been paid remuneration or has received other benefits from an employment
with the Academy. The principal and other staff Trustees only receive remuneration in respect of services
they provide undertaking the roles of principal and staff members under their contracts of employment.
The value of Trustees' remuneration and other benefits was as follows:

No.

1

1

I

1

1

1

e. Key management personnel

The key management personnel of the academy trust comprise the trustees and the senior management
team as listed on page 1. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer pension contribution
and employer national insurance contribution) received by key management peisoirnei for their services to
the academy trust was €317,000 (2018: €309,000).

9.

E Haver, Principal

G Price

D Sadler

Remuneration
Pension contributions paid
Remuneration
Pension contributions paid
Remuneration
Pension contributions paid

2419
€000

85-90
10-15

0-5
0-5

2018
€000
80-90
10-15
0-5
0-5

15 -20
0-5

During the year ended 31 August 2019, no Trustee expenses have been incurred (2OtA - tNtL).
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10. Trustees'andOfficens' inourance

ln accordance with normal commercial practice, the Academy has purchased insurance to protect
Trustees and officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occuning whilst on
academy business. The insurance provides cover up to €5,000,000 on any one claim and the cost for the
year ended 31 August 201 9 was e 1 ,840 (2018 - e6,000). The cost of this insurance is included in the total
insurance cost.

11. Tangible fixed aesets

Freehold
property

€000

Furnlturc
and

equipment
€000

Computer
equipment

e000
Total
€000

Cost or valuation
At 1 September2018
Additions

At 31 August 2019

Depreciation
At 1 September2018
Charge for the year

Al31 Augusl2019

Net book value

At31 August2019

At31 August2018

2,678 2,917
25

2,678 t85 79 2,942

66
10

4i!3 63 76 672

2,215 122 3 2,370

2,321 115 12 2,448

161
24

459
103

46
17

357
76

78
I
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12. Debtorc

Due wlthln one year
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

13. Creditorc: Amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors
Accruals and defened income

2419
€000

2018
€000

io
30

5
12

36

5348

2019
[000

2018
t000

1

80

81

I
81

82::
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14. Statement of funds

Unrestricted
funds

General Funds

lncome Expenditure
€000 f,000

1

Balance at I
September

2018
8000

389

Transfers
lnlout
c000

Galng/
(Loeses)

8000

Balance at
3l August

2019
€000

390

Reetrlcted
general funds

GeneralAnnual
Grant (GAG)

PupilPremium
LA Grants
Other restricted

income
Pension reserve

Reetrlcted flxed
aseet funds

On transfer from
conversion

Dfe/EFA capital
grants

Capital
expenditure
from GAG

Total Reetricted
funds

Total funde

g0(6)946
34

936

206

(550)

(i,058)
(3{)

(e38)

(1)
({33)

I
(3f3) (r,026)

(3441 1,917 (2,160) (6) (3431 (e36)

2,383 6

63(2165

({00)

(r)

2,289

l8t9

2,449 t9 (r031 6 2,370

2,104 1,936 (2,2891 (3f31 1A34

2,49t 1,937 (2,269' (3{3) 1,gA
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14. Statementof funde (contlnued)

The specific purposes forwhich the funds are to be applied are as follows:

Unrestrlcted funds
Unrestrlcted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the
charitable objects of thE academy trust at the discretion of the trustees.

Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the academy was not subject to a limit on the
amount of GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2019.

Restrlcted general funds
Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received and includes grants from the
Education and Skills Funding Agency and other funds.

Restricted ffxed aeeet funds
Restricted fixed asset funds are resourcea which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by
the Education and Skills Funding Agency or other funders where the asset acquired or created is held for
a specific pupose.
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14. Statement of funds (contlnued)

Comparative information in respect of the preceding year is as follows:

Balance at
1

September
2017
E000

lncome Expenditurre000 e000

Transfets
ln/out
€000

Gains/
(Losees)

e000

Balance at
3l August

2018
€000

Unrcstrlcted
fundc

Generalfunds

Restrlcted
general funds

General Annual
Grant (GAG)

PupilPremium
LA Grants
Other restricted

income
Pension reserve

Restricted fixed
aaset funds

On lransfer from
conversion

Capital
expenditure
from GAG

Dfe/ESFA
capitalgrants

Total Restricted
funds

386 3 389

956 (1,035)
(32)

(e3e)

(5e3)
(8)

(151) 194 (550)

(295) 1,935 (2,165) (13) '|94 (344)

2,471 2,383

13

2,531 7 (103) 13 2,48

2,236 1,942 (2,2681 194 2,104

2,622 1,945 (2,269)

2M(13)298
32

939

8

65

(88)

(8)

(7t7

60

Total funds
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15. Analysls of net assete between funds

Analysls of net aeeets between funds - current year

Tangible fixed assets
cunent assets
Creditors due within one yeer
Provisions for liabilities and charges

Total

Tangible fixed assets
Current assots
Creditors due within one year
Provisions for liabilities and charges

Total

Unrestrlcted
funds

2019
€000

Reetricted
funds

2019
€000

Restricted
fixed asset

funde
2019
e000

2,370

Restrlcted
flxed asget

funds
2018
€000

2,448

Total
funds
20r9
t000

2,370
562

l82l
({,026}

390 172
(82)

(1,026)

390

Unrestrlcted
funds

2018
€000

Restrlcted
funds

2018
8000

(936) 2,370 1,824

Analysis of net assete between funde . prlor year

Total
funds

2018
8000

2,448
676
(81)

(550)

389 287
(81)

(550)

389 (344',, 2,448 2,499
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16. Reconcillatlon of net expendlturc to net cash flow from operating activities

Net expenditure for the year (as per statement of financial activities)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Capital grants from DfE and other capital income
Defined benefit pension scheme cost less contributions payable
Defined benefit pension scheme finance cost
Decrease in debtors
lncrease(decrease) in creditors

Net cash used in operatlng activlties

17. Caeh flows from lnvestlng actlvltles

Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Capitalgrants from DfE Group

Net cash used in investing activities

18. Analysis of cash and cash equlvalente

Cash in hand

Totalcash and cash equlvalents

2019
8000

2018
€000

(3261 (323)

t03
(rs)
lt6

17
7
1

103
(7',)

135
16

''1
(13)

(10r) (78)

2019
8000

(25)
t9

2018
e000

(20)
7

(6) (13)

2018
e000
623

2019
e000
516

623516

19. Penaloncommltmenta

The Academy's employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers' Pension Scheme for
England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which is managed by Hymans Robertson LLP. Both are multi-employer
defined benefit schemes.
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19. Pensloncommitments(continued)

The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2012 and of the LGpS 31
March 2016.

There were no outslanding or prepaid contributions at either the beginning or the end of the financial year.

Teachers' Pension Scheme

The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS or scheme) is a statutory, unfunded, defined benefit occupational
scheme, governed by the Teachers' Pensions Regulations 2010 (as amended), and the Teachers'
Pension Scheme Regulations 2014 (as amended). These regulations apply to teachers in schools and
other educationalestablishments, including acadsmies, in England and Wales thal are maintained by local
authorities. ln addition, leachers in many independent and voluntary-aided schools and teachers and
lecturers in some establishments of further and higher education may be eligible for membership.
Membership is automatic for full-time teachers and lecturers and, from 1 January 2007, automatic too for
teachers and lecturers in pari-time employment following appointment or a change of contract. Teachers
and lecturers are able to opt out of the TPS.

Although members may be employed by various bodies, their retirement and other pension benefits are
set out in regulations mada under the Superannuation Act (1972) and Public Service Pensions Act (2013)
and are paid by public funds provided by Parliament, The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members
contribute on a 'pay as you go'basis - contributions ftom members, along with those made by employers,
are credited to the Exchequer under arrangements governed by the above Acts.

The Teachers' Pensions Regulations 2010 require an annualaccount, lhe Teachers' Pension Budgeting
and Valuation Account, lo be kept of receipts and expenditure (including the cost of pension increases).
From 1 April 2001, the Account has been credited with a real rate of return, which is equivalent to
assuming that the balance in the Account is invested in notional investments that produce that real rate of
return.

Valuatlon of the Teachen' Penslon Scheme

The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS
in accordance with the Public Service Pensions. (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014,
published by HM Treasury. The aim of the review is to specify the level of future contributions. Actuariat
scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefils and
many other factors. The latest actuarial review of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2016 and in
accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014.The
valuation report was published by the Department on 5 March 2019. The key elements of the valuation
and subsequent consultation are :

. employer contribution rates were set at'16.480/o of pensionable pay (including the additional 0.08o/o
employer administration charge). As a resuft of recent valualion TPS employers will pay an
increased contribulion rate of 23.680/ofrom September 2019 (this includes the administration levy of
0.8%). The timing of the lmplementation is to align its introduction wilh employers' budget planning
cycles.
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19. Pensloncommltments(continued)

total scheme liabilities (pensions cunently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefils) for
service to the effective date of e21 8,100 million, and notional assets (estimated future contributions
together with the nolional inveslments held at valuation date) of e196.100 million giving a notional
past service deficit of 822,000 million.
lhe assumed real rate of return is 3.0% in excess of prices and 2o/o in excess of eamings. The rate
of real earnings growth is assumed lobe 2.75o/o. The assumed nominal rate of retum is 5.06%.
an employer cost cap of 15.1o/o of pensionable pay will be applied to future valuation

Scheme Changes

The arrangements for a reformed Teachers' Pension Scheme, in line with the recommendations made by
Lord Hutton, in particular the introduction of a Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) scheme, were
implemented from 1 April2015.

In December 20'18, the Court of Appeal held that transitional protection provisions contained in the
reformed judicial and firefighter pension schemes, introduced as part of public service pension reforms in
2015, gave rise to direct age discrimination and were therefore unlawful. The Supreme Court, in a
decision made in June 2019, have rejected the Government's application for permission to appeal the
Court of Appeal's ruling. The case will now be refered to an Employment Tribunal for a decision regarding
the remedy which will need to be offered to those members of the two schemes who were subject of the
age discrimination.

HM Treasury are clear that the ruling has implications for the other public service schemes, including the
Teachers' Pension Scheme. Those implications are currently being considered and any impact on
scheme costs is expected to be looked at within the nert scheme valuation, which is currenty scheduled
to be based on April 2020 data and implemented in April 2023.

Total contribulions paid to TPS in the period amounted to 893,000 (2018 - t91,000) of which employers
contributions totalled 840,497 (2018 - e53,914) and employees contributions totalled e52,503 (20'18 -
e37,086).

A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentatlon is on the Teachers' Pensions website.

Under the definitions set out in Financial Reporting Standard (FRS 102), the TPS is an unfunded multi-
employer pension scheme. The trust has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a
defined contribution scheme. The trust has set oul above the information available on the scheme.

Local Govemment Pension Scheme

The LGPS is a funded defined benefit pension scheme, with the a*sets held in separate trustee-
administered funds. The total contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2019 was €177,000 (2018 -
2177,000), of which employe/s contributions totalled €138,000 (2018 - 2138,000) and employees'
contributions totalled e 39,000 (2018 - t39,000). The agreed contribution rates for tuture years are per
cent for employers and per cent for employees.

Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the
event of academy closure, outstranding Local Governmenl Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the
Department for Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013.

a

a
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19. Peneioncommitmente(continued)

The LGPS obligation relates to the employees of the academy trust, who were the employees transferred
as part of the conversion from the maintained school and new employees who were eligible to, and did,
join the Scheme in the year. The obligation in respect of employees who transfened on conversion
represents their cumulative service at both the predecessor school and the academy trust at lhe balance
sheet date

Prlnclpal actuarlal assumptlons

Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase for pensions in paymenUinflation
Discount rate for scheme liabillties
Expected return on assets
Commutration of pensions to lump sums

Retiring today
Males
Femabs
Retiring in 20 yearc
Males
Females

2019
%

2.600/o

2.30%
1.E0o/o

2.30olo
50.00%

2018
oh

2.70o/o

2.40o/o

2.80o/o

2.400/o

50.00%

The current mortality assumptions include suflicient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates.
The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:

20{9
Yearc

2018
Yeare

21.2
23.5

22:,
25.0

22.3
24.5

23.9
26.5
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,l9. Pensloncommitments(continued)

Sensitivity Analysis

The Academy's share of the assets in the scheme was:

Equities
Corporate bonds
Property
Cash and other liquid assets

Total market value of assets

The actual return on scheme assets was 9.60lo (2018 - t3.6To).

The amounts recognised in the Statement of financial activities are as follows:

Current service cost
Net interest cosl

Total amount rccognised in the Statement of financial activities

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations were as follows:

At I September 2018
lnterest cost
Employee contributions
Benefits paid
Past service costs
Current service cost
Actuarial (gains/losses

Ar31 At31
August2019 August20lSf,000 €000

925 871
1,012 780
172 145
43 18

2,152 1,814

2019
€000

(2441
(171

2018
€000

(273)
(16)

(26{) (28e)

2019
€000

2,3U
70
39

(201

t0
24
471

2018
8000

2,'t88
58
39

(18)

273
(176)

2,364At 31 August 2019
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19. Pensioncommitments(contlnued)

Changes in the fair value of the Academt's share of scheme assets were as follows:

At I September 2018
Expected return on assets
lnterest income
Employee contributions
Employer contributions
Plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and settlements

At 31 Auguet 2019

20r9
t000

1,814
128
53
39

138
(20)

2018
€000

1,595
18

42
39

138
(18)

2,152 1,8'14

24. Operating lease commitments

At 31 August 2019 the Academy had commilments to make future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases as follows:

2019
€000

2018
e000

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

21. Members'llability

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the
event of it being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a
member, such amount as may be required, not exceeding fNlL for the debts and liabitities contracted
before he/she ceaees to be a member.

22. Related party traneactions

Owing to the nalure of the Academy's operations and the composition of the board of trustees being
drawn from local public and private sector organisations, transac{ions may take place with organisations
in which a trustees has an interest. All transactions involving such organisations are conducted at arm's
length and in accordance wilh the Academy's financial regulations and normal procurement procedures.

No other related party transactions took place in the period of account, other than trustees' remuneration
already disclosed in note 9.

I
1

1

2

32
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